

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



NEUROSCIENCE AND BIOBEHAVIORAL REVIEWS

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 27 (2003) 605-613

www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review

The dopamine transporter and neuroimaging in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

Klaus-Henning Krause^{a,*}, Stefan H. Dresel^b, Johanna Krause^c, Christian la Fougere^b, Manfred Ackenheil^d

^aFriedrich-Baur-Institute, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Ziemssenstr. 1a, D-80336 Munich, Germany
^bDepartment of Nuclear Medicine, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, D-80336 Munich, Germany
^cOutpatient Clinic for Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, D-85521 Ottobrunn, Germany
^dDepartment of Neurochemistry, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, D-80336 Munich, Germany

Received 31 January 2003; revised 20 August 2003; accepted 25 August 2003

Abstract

There is evidence that abnormalities within the dopamine system in the brain play a major role in the pathophysiology of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). For instance, dopaminergic psychostimulants, the drugs of first choice in ADHD, interact directly with the dopamine transporter (DAT). Molecular genetic studies suggest involvement of a polymorphism of the DAT gene in ADHD. More recent imaging studies show abnormalities in various brain structures, but particularly in striatal regions. In the current paper we review recent studies in this area. First in vivo measurements of DAT with single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) in ADHD patients revealed an elevation of striatal DAT density. No differences in DAT density between the left and right side and between putamen and caudate nucleus have been found in [^{99m}Tc]TRODAT-1 SPECT of ADHD patients. Patients with ADHD and with a history of nicotine abuse both displayed lower values of DAT density in [^{99m}Tc]TRODAT-1 SPECT than non-smokers with ADHD. DAT seem to be elevated in non-smoking ADHD patients suffering from the purely inattentive subtype of ADHD as well as in those with the combined or purely hyperactive/impulsive subtype.

© 2003 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Dopamine transporter; Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; Single photon emission computed tomography; Nicotine; TRODAT-1

Contents

1. Introduction	605
2. Function of dopamine and the dopamine transporter	606
3. DAT and ADHD	606
4. Neuroimaging in ADHD	607
4.1. Magnetic resonance imaging	507
4.2. Positron emission tomography	607
4.3. Single photon emission computed tomography	607
4.3.1. Measuring DAT in vivo with SPECT	608
5. DAT and nicotine	508
6. DAT density and DAT gene	510
7. DAT in subtypes of ADHD	610
8. Conclusions	611
References	511

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. Fax: +49-89-51607402. *E-mail address:* khkrause@yahoo.com (K.-H. Krause). In this review, we discuss the relationships between the dopamine system, especially the dopamine transporter

(DAT) in the striatum, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). The results of neuroimaging with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) will be described. Results using these technologies are consistent with the hypothesis of a cerebellar-prefrontal-striatal dysfunction in ADHD. SPECT imaging studies of DAT activity demonstrating an elevation of DAT associated with ADHD will be reported. A possible methylphenidate (MPH)-like influence of nicotine on DAT will be described. Finally, the relationship between ADHD subtypes and DAT activity will be discussed in the context of our own results. Future investigations will be proposed, in the light of the new dual pathway model of ADHD [1].

2. Function of dopamine and the dopamine transporter

Dopaminergic projections from the A9 and A10 region of the midbrain ventral tegmental area (VTA) to striatal and prefrontal cortical areas play a major role in motor control and attention [2]. Abnormal dopamine function within these branches is implicated in many psychiatric disorders including depression, schizophrenia, and Tourette syndrome [3,4].

Within these branches nerve impulses lead to a release of dopamine in the synaptic cleft, which are received by a set of different dopamine receptors (DRD1-5) differentially distributed within the brain, inducing a cascade of postsynaptic events. The signal transduction via the Adenylate Cyclase system eventually leads to an alteration in gene expression. The amount of released dopamine depends on the availability of intra-vesicle dopamine and the sensitivity of the presynaptic autoreceptors that regulate dopamine release. The major deactivation mechanism is

the reuptake of dopamine through the DAT in the presynaptic nerve membrane (Fig. 1).

Dopamine transport was first described 30 years ago [5]. DAT was itself identified and its molecular structure described a considerable number of years later [6]. The human DAT gene is localized on chromosome 5p15.3 [6–8]. A genetic polymorphism of a 40 bp variable tandem nucleotide repeat (VNTR) polymorphic sequence in the 3' untranslated region of exon 15 of the gene is described [8–10]. This VNTR of exon 15 is repeated 3–11 times, most typically 10 times. The 10-repeat shows an ethnic heterogeneity with a frequency of 0.7 among Caucasians and Hispanics in USA, 0.54 in African Americans and 0.9 in Asians [11–14]. DATs are expressed in a small number of neurons in the brain, mainly in striatum and nucleus accumbens, but also in the globus pallidus, cingulate cortex, olfactory tubercle, amygdala and the midbrain [15].

The DAT, like the transporters for norepinephrine and serotonin, is a Na⁺/Cl⁻ dependent transmembrane transport protein [16], which regulates the concentration of dopamine in the synaptic cleft. Knock-out mice lacking DAT show higher dopamine in the synaptic cleft. In addition, the amount of released dopamine modulates DAT activity [17–19]. A decline of striatal DAT is observed at a rate of approximately 6–7% per decade in the human striatum [20–25]. For more than 20 years specific radioactive labelling techniques have been used to image DAT activity.

3. DAT and ADHD

The strongest evidence for an involvement of the DAT in the pathophysiology of a psychological disorder comes from investigations of ADHD, the most common childhood-onset psychiatric disorder. The condition is heritable and the patients behaviour symptoms can be



Dopaminergic Path ways

Fig. 1. Dopamine (DA) neurons in the human brain and location of DA transporter (D1-D5 = DA receptors).

controlled by psychostimulants such as MPH and dexamphetamine, which are known to act directly on DAT function [26]. Cocaine and related drugs prevent dopamine transport by blocking the DAT. Dopamine function is modulated by amphetamines in two ways: first, by release of dopamine from vesicular stores and second, by an increase of dopamine within the synaptic cleft via blockade of the DAT [3,27,28]. It is widely accepted that in this way psychostimulants increase the extracellular concentrations of dopamine. In a PET study, it was shown that cocaine, in a dose equivalent to that used by human abusers, resulted in a 60-80% blockade of DAT sites, with the degree of blocking correlating with subjective effects of a 'high' [29]. After intake of 5 mg MPH a 12% reduction of DAT has been found in normal adults using PET with ¹¹C-cocaine [30]. Interestingly Moll and colleagues [31] found no persistent reduction of rat DAT, when MPH was given after puberty; however, a reduction of DAT was found when MPH was given in high doses to prepubertal rats.

Other studies describe a significant association of the 10 copy VNTR polymorphism with ADHD [32-34]. It is of interest that in the study of Waldman and colleagues [34] this relation has been documented for both hyperactiveimpulsive and combined subtypes of ADHD. Generally it should be mentioned that there are numerous difficulties in establishing association and/or linkage in disorders like ADHD. The diagnostic categories and criteria are complex and heterogeneous, especially in adult ADHD; the biological basis is assumed to be polygenetic, and the contribution of single genes may vary across various populations. It is estimated that for individuals, who carry the putative susceptibility alleles of the DAT1 gene, the risk of manifesting ADHD may be increased by 20-40% [35]. On the other hand, the DAT1 gene has not been found as a major gene for ADHD susceptibility in a first genome-wide scan in 126 sibling pairs affected with ADHD [36].

4. Neuroimaging in ADHD

4.1. Magnetic resonance imaging

Previous magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have reported smaller volumes of the basal ganglia [37–42], corpus callosum [43–47], prefrontal cortex [38,41,48,49] and cerebellum [40,50,51] in patients with ADHD, which would be consistent with the hypothesis of a cerebellar– prefrontal–striatal dysfunction in ADHD. In one MRI study, Castellanos and colleagues [52] described smaller brain volumes in a number of cortical and subcortical structures in unmedicated patients. With the exception of the caudate nucleus, longitudinal growth curves of ADHD patients and controls were roughly parallel. Furthermore, the caudate nucleus was smaller compared to the controls only in medicated, but not in unmedicated ADHD patients.

Reduced striatal activation in children and adolescents with ADHD has been found in fMRI studies during performance of response inhibition tasks: Vaidya and colleagues [53] found differences between the frontalstriatal function of 10 boys with ADHD and six controls while subjects were performing two go/no-go tasks. Without medication, ADHD children had greater frontal activation while performing one task and reduced striatal activation while performing the other task. MPH improved response inhibition in both groups on one task and only in ADHD children on the other task. MPH appeared to modulate brain activation during response inhibition on only one task with increased frontal activation to an equal degree in both groups. However, there were different influences on striatal activation: in ADHD children striatal activation was increased under MPH, in healthy children it was reduced. It can be concluded that MPH may affect striatal activation differently in ADHD and healthy controls. Comparing seven adolescent boys with ADHD to nine control subjects Rubia and colleagues [49] found a subnormal activation of the prefrontal systems, responsible for higher-order motor control, in ADHD, using functional MRI during performance of a stop task and a motor timing task. Using a new fMRI procedure (T2 relaxometry), developed by Teicher and colleagues [54], 11 boys with ADHD were shown to have higher T2 relaxation time measures in the putamen bilaterally than six normal controls. Furthermore activation level strongly correlated with a child's capacity to sit still and his accuracy when performing a computerized attention task. Treatment with MPH significantly changed the T2 relaxation times in the putamen [54].

4.2. Positron emission tomography

In a positron emission tomography (PET) study in children with ADHD, increased [F-18]F-DOPA uptake in the right midbrain was found [55]. On the other hand, in medication naive adults with ADHD F-DOPA uptake has been observed in left and medial prefrontal cortex with no differences in striatum or midbrain regions [56]. It is not clear whether these contradictory findings are due to weakness of the signal from [F-18] F-DOPA uptake outside the striatum or differences between adolescents and adults. To our knowledge at this time no PET study has been published with ADHD children using a specific marker for DAT, such as C-11-cocaine. Only effects of MPH on the DAT in normals have been shown with C-11-cocaine PET by Volkow and colleagues [30].

4.3. Single photon emission computed tomography

Preliminary studies with Xenon-133 inhalation single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) demonstrated hypo-perfusion in the frontal lobes and the caudate nuclei (of some ADHD patients), especially the right caudate; 30 min after oral administration of MPH the perfusion increased [57]. This finding was replicated using the same technique in studies with greater poweragain a decrease in activity in the right striatum was observed, along with increased activity in the occipital lobe [58,59]. Studies using hexamethyl-propylene-amineoxime (HMPAO) brain SPECT have demonstrated decreased prefrontal activity in ADHD children and adolescents in response to mental stress [60]. Using iodine-123 N-isopropyl-4-iodoamphetamine (IMP)-SPECT an asymmetry of striatal perfusion with decreases of the right side compared to the left has been found, in another study decreases in left-sided frontal, parietal and total hemispheric regions [61]. Rohde and colleagues [62] described significantly higher regional cerebral blood flow in 99mTcethylcysteinate dimer (ECD)-SPECT in the medial frontal and left basal ganglia areas in ADHD boys with homozygosity for the 10-repeat allele of DAT1 gene, compared to boys without this homozygosity during MPH therapy.

4.3.1. Measuring DAT in vivo with SPECT

The studies reported above suggest involvement of striatal structures in ADHD. In view of the evidence from molecular genetic studies of the involvement of DAT in ADHD, it does seem appropriate to investigate DAT in patients with ADHD. Furthermore it is known that the therapeutic effects of MPH, the drug of first choice in ADHD, results from its ability to increase the synaptic concentration of dopamine by blocking the DAT [29].

A variety of radiolabelled ligands are available for imaging DAT. For SPECT imaging these radiopharmaceuticals are mostly labelled with ¹²³I. In a first study in patients with ADHD the radiopharmaceutical [¹²³I] altropane has been used [63]. This ligand binds to the human striatal DAT with high affinity, enters the brain rapidly and accumulates in the striatum within 30 min [64,65]. In six non-medicated adult patients with ADHD DAT levels were approximately 70% higher than in controls [63]. At the same time another SPECT investigation was conducted with one of the first technetium-labelled ligands for imaging the DAT, TRO-DAT-1 [66-69]. Compared to iodine-bound ligands, this radiopharmaceutical has numerous advantages: ^{99m}Tc is the radionuclid of choice for nuclear medicine, because it is readily available, relatively inexpensive and gives lower radiation exposure as compared with ¹²³I, so that [^{99m}Tc]TRODAT-1 may be easily used in most nuclear medicine facilities. [99mTc]TRODAT-1 yields high-contrast SPECT images at 2-3 h after injection with reliable assessment of the human DAT status [66,70-75]. In our investigations, subjects were injected with 740 MBq [Tc-99m]TRODAT-1 3 h before scanning. In each patient, data were evaluated in the two consecutive transverse slices that showed the highest tracer accumulation in the basal ganglia [76,77]. Templates were used for defining the striatal regions of interest (ROI). The size and shape of the templates was established and optimized using the data of a control group. The templates were adjusted to fit individuals

and corrected for anatomical differences in angle, size and distance between the structures of interest. The observer was blind with respect to the clinical data. For semiquantitative evaluation of the DAT, specific binding was calculated in the striatum (STR) with respect to background levels in the cerebellum (BKG) ([STR-BKG]/BKG).

In the first investigation, 10 medication naive adults with ADHD displayed a 16% increase in striatal specific binding of [99mTc]TRODAT-1 compared to controls matched for age and sex [77]. This was a much smaller increase than that found in a multi-center study of Altropane in which a DAT increase of about 30% was reported (ADHD Report 9, 2001, p. 10, see also Ref. [78]). In contrast, in a study with ^{[123}I]beta-CIT no elevation of DAT was found [79]. In a separate study, a group of nine ADHD adults using ¹²³I-fluoropropyl (FP)-CIT showed an elevation of DAT binding of over 20% with correlations between the DAT density and memory task performance (Sitte et al., personal communication, unpublished results). In a study with three children, aged between 6 and 9 years, high levels of DAT have been found with FP-CIT, however, normal values for children are yet to be established [80]. Recently, DAT density has been compared in a first study in children with and without ADHD, using ¹²³I-IPT-SPECT [81] in nine drug-naive children, aged 6-12 years with the combined type of ADHD, and in six normal children. Mean DAT binding ratio in the basal ganglia was increased significantly with 40% on the left and 51% on the right side, compared to the controls of the same age without ADHD or other psychiatric disorders. No significant correlation was found between DAT binding ratio and severity scores of ADHD, either for inattention or for hyperactivity/impulsivity [81]. In conclusion, this study confirms that elevation of DAT already occurs in childhood ADHD. It remains unclear why, in the investigation of adults with ADHD using beta-CIT [79], no elevation of DAT binding was found. Perhaps this may be related to clinical differences between childhood and adult ADHD such as the severity and duration of the disorder. Alternatively these differences may be caused by the very slow kinetics of beta-CIT, or to less specificity of this substance, which also labels the serotonin transporter. Beta-CIT may bind to other substructures of the DAT than FP-CIT, altropane, TRODAT and IPT.

5. DAT and nicotine

As part of an investigation into the potential reasons for the lower elevation in the TRODAT-1 study compared to the altropane study, we identified a subgroup of patients with relatively small increases in DAT despite very high clinical scores; further questioning of these patients revealed that all were cigarette smokers. Comparing 11 smoking non-medicated patients with ADHD to sex and age matched non-smoking drug-naive adults with ADHD showed significantly higher DAT density in



Fig. 2. Dopamine transporter binding in the striatum of a 53 years old non-smoker before (A), after 5 h of intake of 20 mg methylphenidate (Ritalin SR[®]) (B), and 3 months later after 5 h of wearing a 17.5 mg/24 h nicotine skin patch (C), shown by specific accumulation of [Tc-99m]TRODAT-1 in SPECT scans.

the non-smoking patients, despite higher ADHD scores for the smokers [82]. It is not clear, in which way nicotine alters the measurement of DAT, but this finding suggests that nicotine may act directly on DAT in a similar way to stimulants. For MPH a marked lowering of DAT has been found in rats with TRODAT-1 [71]. In normal adults, Volkow and colleagues [30] described a reduction of DAT density of 12% after receiving 5 mg of MPH, with ¹¹Ccocaine PET. In patients with ADHD in the TRODAT-1 study a considerable reduction of DAT of approximately 30% after intake of 5 mg MPH three times a day has been found [77]. In a self-administration trial with one of the authors as a subject (KHK) DAT density was reduced over 50% 5 h after intake of 20 mg MPH in a slow releasing formulation (unpublished data). Wearing a nicotine skin patch (equivalent to 10-20 cigarettes per day) for 5 h an effect similar to MPH was seen 3 months later (Fig. 2). This supported the view that the lowering of DAT after use of nicotine was not a sign of a neurochemical adaptation associated with chronic exposure to nicotine [82]. Further evidence for the impact of nicotine on DAT comes from

the re-evaluation of a female ADHD smoker (unpublished data). At the time of the first investigation with TRODAT-1, she was smoking 15 cigarettes per day. She demonstrated no elevation of DAT; 4 weeks after the intake, 3×5 mg MPH led to a marked reduction in DAT similar to that found with other patients in this group. One year later, the patient stopped the nicotine and MPH intake; 2 years after the first investigation she returned with increased complaints of ADHD. At this time she underwent another TRODAT-1 SPECT scan, presenting with a 19% elevation compared to the first scan with nicotine and a 61% elevation compared to the second scan with nicotine and MPH (Fig. 3). This finding is in accordance with the opinion that the effect of nicotine on DAT does not result in a persistent loss of DAT [83]. In this context, it is of interest that an investigation with [123I]beta-CIT SPECT showed no altered striatal uptake in smokers versus controls [84]. This parallels the above-mentioned findings of no DAT elevation in ADHD with this method. In the study of Staley and colleagues [84] a higher DAT availability has been observed in females compared to



Fig. 3. Dopamine transporter binding in the striatum of a 29 years old female smoker with ADHD before (A), after 4 weeks of intake of 3×5 mg methylphenidate (Ritalin[®]) per day (B), and 2 years later after 1 year of cessation of nicotine abuse and intake of methylphenidate, shown by specific accumulation of [Tc-99m]TRODAT-1 in SPECT scans.

males; this aspect should be considered in further imaging studies of DAT and ADHD.

6. DAT density and DAT gene

Concerning the influence of the 3' VNTR polymorphism on the DAT density in humans, three SPECT studies have been performed, all of which use [123I]beta-CIT. In a group of 14 abstinent alcoholics and 11 controls 9-repeat individuals (e.g. 9-10 heterozygotes) had a mean 22% decrease of DAT binding compared to 10-repeat subjects (10-10 homozygotes) [85]. In 44 subjects (14 recently detoxified cocaine abusers and 30 healthy controls) 9-repeat carriers (9-9 homozygotes and 9-10 heterozygotes) showed a mean 13.4% increase in striatal [123]beta-CIT binding compared to 10-10 homozygotes [86]. In a sample with 29 patients with schizophrenia and 31 healthy controls no significant association was found between VNTR polymorphism and DAT density [87]. Thus, the impact of the abnormalities of VNTR polymorphism of the DAT1 gene seen in ADHD on the striatal DAT is far from clear. It will be important to compare the DAT density measured with other specific methods than [¹²³I]beta-CIT in ADHD patients with 9- and 10-repeat alleles. In this context sequence analysis of the tandem repeat region in the 3'-UTR of the DAT gene in patients with ADHD would be of interest. In rhesus monkeys, one particular single nucleotide polymorphism in the fixed number tandem repeat region has been found to occur with greater frequency in the most active monkeys [88]. Concerning relationships between polymorphisms of the DAT1 gene and response to

medication, in two studies a smaller response to MPH has been found in ADHD patients with homozygosity for the 10-repeat allele [89,90]. In cocaine abusers, without transcription factor NURR1, a marked reduction of DAT gene expression has been recently found. This suggests that NURR1 may play a critical role in vivo in controlling human DAT gene expression in these people [91].

7. DAT in subtypes of ADHD

It will be important to investigate DAT differences in the subtypes of ADHD as defined in DSM IV. First, our own results in non-smoking adults with persistent symptoms of ADHD revealed that the type of ADHD patient with attention deficit (in childhood) alone had a similar elevation of DAT as patients with symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity [92] (Fig. 4). There was a slight tendency towards higher levels when symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity were present (mean of DAT density in nonsmoking 20–40 years old patients with hyperactivity 1.52, with pure attention deficit 1.49, in patients with age over 40 years 1.34 (hyperactivity) and 1.30 (attention deficit), see Fig. 4). From these preliminary results it can be postulated that DAT increases in ADHD are not restricted to the hyperactive type and that it does play an important role for the inattentive type.

It was striking how many of the 20–40 years old patients in our group, who had shown symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity in childhood, were smokers: nine smoked and only three were non-smokers (Fig. 4). The opposite was shown in the patients with only inattentive symptoms



Fig. 4. Dopamine transporter binding in the striatum of smoking and non-smoking adults with ADHD with only inattentive symptoms since childhood and with hyperactivity/impulsivity in the childhood, mostly in combination with attention deficit and in non-smoking controls, shown by specific accumulation of [Tc-99m]TRODAT-1 in SPECT scans, in the age groups of 20–40 years and over 40 years.

throughout their whole life: only two smoked, seven were non-smokers. These findings are in contrast to the results of Tercyak and colleagues [93]. They found that adolescents with inattention smoked more heavily than those with hyperactivity and impulsivity [93]. Because the symptoms of ADHD in this study were assessed only by self-report rating of behaviour over the previous 6 months, one explanation for the different findings could be that symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity have been successfully treated by self-medication with nicotine.

8. Conclusions

From the existing data it can be postulated that DAT density is increased in ADHD, and that this increase is not specific to particular symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity. It is not clear, however, how the form of DAT1 alleles, found in ADHD patients, influences DAT density. It seems that nicotine, frequently abused by patients with ADHD, may have an influence on DAT similar to that of stimulants. Further investigations will show, whether non-smoking and non-treated patients with relatively low levels of DAT density generally may not respond to stimulants as good as the other patients presenting with elevated DAT.

Recently, a dual pathway model of ADHD has been presented by Sonuga-Barke [1]. He showed that delay aversion and poor inhibitory control are independent coexisting characteristics of the combined type of ADHD. In the model ADHD has two neuropsychological subtypes. In one it is a disorder of thought and action resulting from poor inhibitory control, which is associated with the mesocortical branch of the dopamine system projecting in the prefrontal cortex. In the other it is a motivational problem with delay aversion and high impulsiveness and linked to the ventral-striatal network, including the nucleus accumbens, associated with the meso-limbic branch of the dopamine system. At this time, the role of DAT concerning these differential ADHD pathways is not clear. In further investigations with neuroimaging of the DAT, possible differences in DAT density could be sought in brain regions differentially involved in patients with these two different physiopathological subtypes of ADHD.

References

- Sonuga-Barke EJ. Psychological heterogeneity in AD/HD—a dual pathway model of behaviour and cognition. Behav Brain Res 2002; 130:29–36.
- [2] Grillner P, Mercuri NB. Intrinsic membrane properties and synaptic inputs regulating the firing activity of the dopamine neurons. Behav Brain Res 2002;130:149–69.
- [3] Bannon MJ, Sacchetti P, Granneman JG. The dopamine transporter: potential involvement in neuropsychiatric disorders. In: Watson SJ, editor. Psychopharmacology: the fourth generation of progress. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott; 2000. http://www.acnp.org/G4.

- [4] Bannon MJ, Michelhaugh SK, Wang J, Sacchetti P. The human dopamine transporter gene: gene organization, transcriptional regulation, and potential involvement in neuropsychiatric disorders. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2001;11:449–55.
- [5] Iversen LL. Role of transmitter uptake mechanisms in synaptic neurotransmission. Br J Pharmacol 1971;41:571–91.
- [6] Giros B, el Mestikawy S, Godinot N, Zheng K, Han H, Yang-Feng T, Caron MG. Cloning, pharmacological characterization, and chromosome assignment of the human dopamine transporter. Mol Pharmacol 1992;42:383–90.
- [7] Donovan DM, Vandenbergh DJ, Perry MP, Bird GS, Ingersoll R, Nanthakumar E, Uhl GR. Human and mouse dopamine transporter genes: conservation of 5'-flanking sequence elements and gene structures. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1995;30:327–35.
- [8] Vandenbergh DJ, Persico AM, Hawkins AL, Griffin CA, Li X, Jabs EW, Uhl GR. Human dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) maps to chromosome 5p15.3 and displays a VNTR. Genomics 1992;14: 1104–6.
- [9] Byerley W, Hoff M, Holik J, Caron MG, Giros B. VNTR polymorphism for the human dopamine transporter gene (DAT1). Hum Mol Genet 1993;2:335.
- [10] Sano A, Kondoh K, Kakimoto Y, Kondo I. A 40-nucleotide repeat polymorphism in the human dopamine transporter gene. Hum Genet 1993;91:405–6.
- [11] Doucette-Stamm LA, Blakely DJ, Tian J, Mockus S, Mao JI. Population genetic study of the human dopamine transporter gene (DAT1). Genet Epidemiol 1995;12:303–8.
- [12] Leighton PW, Le Couteur DG, Pang CC, McCann SJ, Chan D, Law LK, Kay R, Pond SM, Woo J. The dopamine transporter gene and Parkinson's disease in a Chinese population. Neurology 1997;49: 1577–9.
- [13] Nakatome M, Honda K, Tun Z, Kato Y, Harihara S, Omoto K, Misawa S, Gerelsaikhan T, Nyamkhishig S, Dashnyam B, Batsuuri J, Wakasugi C. Genetic polymorphism of the 3' VNTR region of the human dopaminergic function gene DAT1 (human dopamine transporter gene) in the Mongolian population. Hum Biol 1996;68: 509–15.
- [14] Vandenbergh DJ, Persico AM, Uhl GR. A human dopamine transporter cDNA predicts reduced glycosylation, displays a novel repetitive element and provides racially-dimorphic TaqI RFLPs. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1992;15:161–6.
- [15] Ciliax BJ, Heilman C, Demchyshyn LL, Pristupa ZB, Ince E, Hersch SM, Niznik HB, Levey AI. The dopamine transporter: immunochemical characterization and localization in brain. J Neurosci 1995; 15:1714–23.
- [16] Nelson N. The family of Na⁺/Cl⁻ neurotransmitter transporters. J Neurochem 1998;71:1785–803.
- [17] Cass WA, Gerhardt GA. Direct in vivo evidence that D2 dopamine receptors can modulate dopamine uptake. Neurosci Lett 1994;176: 259–63.
- [18] Jones SR, Gainetdinov RR, Jaber M, Giros B, Wightman RM, Caron MG. Profound neuronal plasticity in response to inactivation of the dopamine transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:4029–34.
- [19] Meiergerd SM, Patterson TA, Schenk JO. D2 receptors may modulate the function of the striatal transporter for dopamine: kinetic evidence from studies in vitro and in vivo. J Neurochem 1993;61:764–7.
- [20] Ma SY, Ciliax BJ, Stebbins G, Jaffar S, Joyce JN, Cochran EJ, Kordower JH, Mash DC, Levey AI, Mufson EJ. Dopamine transporter-immunoreactive neurons decrease with age in the human substantia nigra. J Comp Neurol 1999;409:25–37.
- [21] McGeer PL, McGeer EG, Suzuki JS. Aging and extrapyramidal function. Arch Neurol 1977;34:33–5.
- [22] Scherman D, Desnos C, Darchen F, Pollak P, Javoy-Agid F, Agid Y. Striatal dopamine deficiency in Parkinson's disease: role of aging. Ann Neurol 1989;26:551–7.
- [23] van Dyck CH, Seibyl JP, Malison RT, Laruelle M, Wallace E, Zoghbi SS, Zea-Ponce Y, Baldwin RM, Charney DS, Hoffer PB. Age-related

decline in striatal dopamine transporter binding with iodine-123-beta-CITSPECT. J Nucl Med 1995;36:1175–81.

- [24] Volkow ND, Fowler JS, Wang GJ, Logan J, Schlyer D, MacGregor R, Hitzemann R, Wolf AP. Decreased dopamine transporters with age in health human subjects. Ann Neurol 1994;36:237–9.
- [25] Volkow ND, Ding YS, Fowler JS, Wang GJ, Logan J, Gatley SJ, Hitzemann R, Smith G, Fields SD, Gur R. Dopamine transporters decrease with age. J Nucl Med 1996;37:554–9.
- [26] Ritz MC, Lamb RJ, Goldberg SR, Kuhar MJ. Cocaine receptors on dopamine transporters are related to self-administration of cocaine. Science 1987;237:1219–23.
- [27] Solanto MV. Dopamine dysfunction in AD/HD: integrating clinical and basic neuroscience research. Behav Brain Res 2002;130:65–71.
- [28] Sonders MS, Zhu SJ, Zahniser NR, Kavanaugh MP, Amara SG. Multiple ionic conductances of the human dopamine transporter: the actions of dopamine and psychostimulants. J Neurosci 1997;17:960–74.
- [29] Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Logan J, Franceschi D, Maynard L, Ding YS, Gatley SJ, Gifford A, Zhu W, Swanson JM. Relationship between blockade of dopamine transporters by oral methylphenidate and the increases in extracellular dopamine: therapeutic implications. Synapse 2002;43:181–7.
- [30] Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Gatley SJ, Logan J, Ding YS, Hitzemann R, Pappas N. Dopamine transporter occupancies in the human brain induced by therapeutic doses of oral methylphenidate. Am J Psychiatry 1998;155:1325–31.
- [31] Moll GH, Hause S, Ruther E, Rothenberger A, Huether G. Early methylphenidate administration to young rats causes a persistent reduction in the density of striatal dopamine transporters. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2001;11:15–24.
- [32] Cook Jr EH, Stein MA, Krasowski MD, Cox NJ, Olkon DM, Kieffer JE, Leventhal BL. Association of attention-deficit disorder and the dopamine transporter gene. Am J Hum Genet 1995;56:993–8.
- [33] Gill M, Daly G, Heron S, Hawi Z, Fitzgerald M. Confirmation of association between attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and a dopamine transporter polymorphism. Mol Psychiatry 1997;2:311–3.
- [34] Waldman ID, Rowe DC, Abramowitz A, Kozel ST, Mohr JH, Sherman SL, Cleveland HH, Sanders ML, Gard JM, Stever C. Association and linkage of the dopamine transporter gene and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children: heterogeneity owing to diagnostic subtype and severity. Am J Hum Genet 1998;63:1767–76.
- [35] Castellanos FX, Tannock R. Neuroscience of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: the search for endophenotypes. Nat Rev Neurosci 2002;3:617–28.
- [36] Fisher SE, Francks C, McCracken JT, McGough JJ, Marlow AJ, MacPhie IL, Newbury DF, Crawford LR, Palmer CG, Woodward JA, Del'Homme M, Cantwell DP, Nelson SF, Monaco AP, Smalley SL. A genomewide scan for loci involved in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Am J Hum Genet 2002;70:1183–96.
- [37] Aylward EH, Reiss AL, Reader MJ, Singer HS, Brown JE, Denckla MB. Basal ganglia volumes in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Neurol 1996;11:112–5.
- [38] Casey BJ, Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Marsh WL, Hamburger SD, Schubert AB, Vauss YC, Vaituzis AC, Dickstein DP, Sarfatti SE, Rapoport JL. Implication of right frontostriatal circuitry in response inhibition and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1997;36:374–83.
- [39] Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Eckburg P, Marsh WL, Vaituzis AC, Kaysen D, Hamburger SD, Rapoport JL. Quantitative morphology of the caudate nucleus in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:1791–6.
- [40] Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Berquin PC, Walter JM, Sharp W, Tran T, Vaituzis AC, Blumenthal JD, Nelson J, Bastain TM, Zijdenbos A, Evans AC, Rapoport JL. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in girls with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:289–95.
- [41] Filipek PA, Semrud-Clikeman M, Steingard RJ, Renshaw PF, Kennedy DN, Biederman J. Volumetric MRI analysis comparing

subjects having attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder with normal controls. Neurology 1997;48:589-601.

- [42] Hynd GW, Hern KL, Novey ES, Eliopulos D, Marshall R, Gonzalez JJ, Voeller KK. Attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder and asymmetry of the caudate nucleus. J Child Neurol 1993;8:339–47.
- [43] Baumgardner TL, Singer HS, Denckla MB, Rubin MA, Abrams MT, Colli MJ, Reiss AL. Corpus callosum morphology in children with Tourette syndrome and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurology 1996;47:477–82.
- [44] Giedd JN, Castellanos FX, Casey BJ, Kozuch P, King AC, Hamburger SD, Rapoport JL. Quantitative morphology of the corpus callosum in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151: 665–9.
- [45] Hynd GW, Semrud-Clikeman M, Lorys AR, Novey ES, Eliopulos D, Lyytinen H. Corpus callosum morphology in attention deficithyperactivity disorder: morphometric analysis of MRI. J Learn Disabil 1991;24:141-6.
- [46] Lyoo IK, Noam GG, Lee CK, Lee HK, Kennedy BP, Renshaw PF. The corpus callosum and lateral ventricles in children with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder: a brain magnetic resonance imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 1996;40:1060–3.
- [47] Semrud-Clikeman M, Filipek PA, Biederman J, Steingard R, Kennedy D, Renshaw P, Bekken K. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: magnetic resonance imaging morphometric analysis of the corpus callosum. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1994;33:875–81.
- [48] Hynd GW, Semrud-Clikeman M, Lorys AR, Novey ES, Eliopulos D. Brain morphology in developmental dyslexia and attention deficit disorder/hyperactivity. Arch Neurol 1990;47:919–26.
- [49] Rubia K, Overmeyer S, Taylor E, Brammer M, Williams SC, Simmons A, Bullmore ET. Hypofrontality in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder during higher-order motor control: a study with functional MRI. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156:891–6.
- [50] Berquin PC, Giedd JN, Jacobsen LK, Hamburger SD, Krain AL, Rapoport JL, Castellanos FX. Cerebellum in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a morphometric MRI study. Neurology 1998;50:1087–93.
- [51] Mostofsky SH, Reiss AL, Lockhart P, Denckla MB. Evaluation of cerebellar size in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Neurol 1998;13:434–9.
- [52] Castellanos FX, Lee PP, Sharp W, Jeffries NO, Greenstein DK, Clasen LS, Blumenthal JD, James RS, Ebens CL, Walter JM, Zijdenbos A, Evans AC, Giedd JN, Rapoport JL. Developmental trajectories of brain volume abnormalities in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA 2002;288:1740–8.
- [53] Vaidya CJ, Austin G, Kirkorian G, Ridlehuber HW, Desmond JE, Glover GH, Gabrieli JD. Selective effects of methylphenidate in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a functional magnetic resonance study. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:14494–9.
- [54] Teicher MH, Anderson CM, Polcari A, Glod CA, Maas LC, Renshaw PF. Functional deficits in basal ganglia of children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder shown with functional magnetic resonance imaging relaxometry. Nat Med 2000;6:470–3.
- [55] Ernst M, Zametkin AJ, Matochik JA, Pascualvaca D, Jons PH, Cohen RM. High midbrain [18F]DOPA accumulation in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156: 1209–15.
- [56] Ernst M, Zametkin AJ, Matochik JA, Jons PH, Cohen RM. DOPA decarboxylase activity in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder adults. A [fluorine-18]fluorodopa positron emission tomographic study. J Neurosci 1998;18:5901–7.
- [57] Lou HC, Henriksen L, Bruhn P. Focal cerebral hypoperfusion in children with dysphasia and/or attention deficit disorder. Arch Neurol 1984;41:825–9.
- [58] Lou HC, Henriksen L, Bruhn P, Borner H, Nielsen JB. Striatal dysfunction in attention deficit and hyperkinetic disorder. Arch Neurol 1989;46:48–52.

- [59] Lou HC, Henriksen L, Bruhn P. Focal cerebral dysfunction in developmental learning disabilities. Lancet 1990;335:8–11.
- [60] Amen DG, Paldi F, Thisted RA. Brain SPECT imaging. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993;32:1080–1.
- [61] Sieg KG, Gaffney GR, Preston DF, Hellings JA. SPECT brain imaging abnormalities in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Clin Nucl Med 1995;20:55–60.
- [62] Rohde LA, Roman T, Szobot C, Cunha RD, Hutz MH, Biederman J. Dopamine transporter gene, response to methylphenidate and cerebral blood flow in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a pilot study. Synapse 2003;48:87–9.
- [63] Dougherty DD, Bonab AA, Spencer TJ, Rauch SL, Madras BK, Fischman AJ. Dopamine transporter density in patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Lancet 1999;354:2132–3.
- [64] Fischman AJ, Bonab AA, Babich JW, Palmer EP, Alpert NM, Elmaleh DR, Callahan RJ, Barrow SA, Graham W, Meltzer PC, Hanson RN, Madras BK. Rapid detection of Parkinson's disease by SPECT with altropane: a selective ligand for dopamine transporters. Synapse 1998;29:128–41.
- [65] Madras BK, Gracz LM, Fahey MA, Elmaleh D, Meltzer PC, Liang AY, Stopa EG, Babich J, Fischman AJ. Altropane, a SPECT or PET imaging probe for dopamine neurons: III. Human dopamine transporter in postmortem normal and Parkinson's diseased brain. Synapse 1998;29:116–27.
- [66] Kushner SA, McElgin WT, Kung MP, Mozley PD, Plossl K, Meegalla SK, Mu M, Dresel S, Vessotskie JM, Lexow N, Kung HF. Kinetic modeling of [99mTc]TRODAT-1: a dopamine transporter imaging agent. J Nucl Med 1999;40:150–8.
- [67] Mozley PD, Stubbs JB, Plossl K, Dresel SH, Barraclough ED, Alavi A, Araujo LI, Kung HF. Biodistribution and dosimetry of TRODAT-1: a technetium-99m tropane for imaging dopamine transporters. J Nucl Med 1998;39:2069–76.
- [68] Mozley PD, Acton PD, Barraclough ED, Plossl K, Gur RC, Alavi A, Mathur A, Saffer J, Kung HF. Effects of age on dopamine transporters in healthy humans. J Nucl Med 1999;40:1812–7.
- [69] Mozley PD, Schneider JS, Acton PD, Plossl K, Stern MB, Siderowf A, Leopold NA, Li PY, Alavi A, Kung HF. Binding of [99mTc]TRO-DAT-1 to dopamine transporters in patients with Parkinson's disease and in healthy volunteers. J Nucl Med 2000;41:584–9.
- [70] Acton PD, Kushner SA, Kung MP, Mozley PD, Plossl K, Kung HF. Simplified reference region model for the kinetic analysis of [99mTc]TRODAT-1 binding to dopamine transporters in nonhuman primates using single-photon emission tomography. Eur J Nucl Med 1999;26:518–26.
- [71] Dresel SH, Kung MP, Plossl K, Meegalla SK, Kung HF. Pharmacological effects of dopaminergic drugs on in vivo binding of [99mTc]TRODAT-1 to the central dopamine transporters in rats. Eur J Nucl Med 1998;25:31–9.
- [72] Dresel SH, Kung MP, Huang XF, Plossl K, Hou C, Meegalla SK, Patselas G, Mu M, Saffer JR, Kung HF. Simultaneous SPECT studies of pre- and postsynaptic dopamine binding sites in baboons. J Nucl Med 1999;40:660–6.
- [73] Dresel SH, Kung MP, Huang X, Plossl K, Hou C, Shiue CY, Karp J, Kung HF. In vivo imaging of serotonin transporters with [99mTc]TRO-DAT-1 in nonhuman primates. Eur J Nucl Med 1999;26:342–7.
- [74] Kung HF, Kim HJ, Kung MP, Meegalla SK, Plossl K, Lee HK. Imaging of dopamine transporters in humans with technetium-99m TRODAT-1. Eur J Nucl Med 1996;23:1527–30.
- [75] Kung MP, Stevenson DA, Plossl K, Meegalla SK, Beckwith A, Essman WD, Mu M, Lucki I, Kung HF. [99mTc]TRODAT-1: a novel technetium-99m complex as a dopamine transporter imaging agent. Eur J Nucl Med 1997;24:372–80.
- [76] Dresel S, Krause J, Krause KH, LaFougere C, Brinkbaumer K, Kung HF, Hahn K, Tatsch K. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: binding of [99mTc]TRODAT-1 to the dopamine transporter before and after methylphenidate treatment. Eur J Nucl Med 2000;27:1518–24.

- [77] Krause KH, Dresel SH, Krause J, Kung HF, Tatsch K. Increased striatal dopamine transporter in adult patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: effects of methylphenidate as measured by single photon emission computed tomography. Neurosci Lett 2000; 285:107–10.
- [78] Madras BK, Miller GM, Fischman AJ. The dopamine transporter: relevance to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Behav Brain Res 2002;130:57–63.
- [79] van Dyck CH, Quinlan DM, Cretella LM, Staley JK, Malison RT, Baldwin RM, Seibyl JP, Innis RB. Unaltered dopamine transporter availability in adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:309–12.
- [80] Al Younis IH. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: neuroimaging before and after treatment with methylphenidate in children. J Nucl Med 2002;43(Suppl. 5):347.
- [81] Cheon K-A, Ryu YH, Kim Y-K, Namkoong K, Kim C-H, Lee JD. Dopamine transporter density in the basal ganglia assessed with [¹²³I]IPT SPET in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Eur J Nucl Med 2003;30:306–11.
- [82] Krause KH, Dresel SH, Krause J, Kung HF, Tatsch K, Ackenheil M. Stimulant-like action of nicotine on striatal dopamine transporter in the brain of adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2002;5:111–3.
- [83] Court JA, Lloyd S, Thomas N, Piggott MA, Marshall EF, Morris CM, Lamb H, Perry RH, Johnson M, Perry EK. Dopamine and nicotinic receptor binding and the levels of dopamine and homovanillic acid in human brain related to tobacco use. Neuroscience 1998;87:63–78.
- [84] Staley JK, Krishnan-Sarin S, Zoghbi S, Tamagnan G, Fujita M, Seibyl JP, Maciejewski PK, O'Malley S, Innis RB. Sex differences in [¹²³I]beta-CIT SPECT measures of dopamine and serotonin transporter availability in healthy smokers and nonsmokers. Synapse 2001;41: 275–84.
- [85] Heinz A, Goldman D, Jones DW, Palmour R, Hommer D, Gorey JG, Lee KS, Linnoila M, Weinberger DR. Genotype influences in vivo dopamine transporter availability in human striatum. Neuropsychopharmacology 2000;22:133–9.
- [86] Jacobsen LK, Staley JK, Zoghbi SS, Seibyl JP, Kosten TR, Innis RB, Gelernter J. Prediction of dopamine transporter binding availability by genotype: a preliminary report. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1700–3.
- [87] Martinez D, Gelernter J, Abi-Dargham A, van Dyck CH, Kegeles L, Innis RB, Laruelle M. The variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism of the dopamine transporter gene is not associated with significant change in dopamine transporter phenotype in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology 2001;24:553–60.
- [88] Miller GM, De La Garza RD, Novak MA, Madras BK. Single nucleotide polymorphisms distinguish multiple dopamine transporter alleles in primates: implications for association with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and other neuropsychiatric disorders. Mol Psychiatry 2001;6:50–8.
- [89] Roman T, Szobot C, Martins S, Biederman J, Rohde LA, Hutz MH. Dopamine transporter gene and response to methylphenidate in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacogenetics 2002;12: 497–9.
- [90] Winsberg BG, Comings DE. Association of the dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) with poor methylphenidate response. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999;38:1474–7.
- [91] Bannon MJ, Pruetz B, Manning-Bog AB, Whitty CJ, Michelhaugh SK, Sacchetti P, Granneman JG, Mash DC, Schmidt CJ. Decreased expression of the transcription factor NURR1 in dopamine neurons of cocaine abusers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:6382–5.
- [92] Krause J, Krause KH. ADHS im Erwachsenenalter. Stuttgart, New York: Schattauer; 2003.
- [93] Tercyak KP, Lerman C, Audrain J. Association of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder symptoms with levels of cigarette smoking in a community sample of adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2002;41:799–805.